077

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD J. SCHULTZ, as Property Appraiser
of Pinellas County, Florida, and RANDY
MILLER, as Executive Director of the
Department of Revenue of the State of
Florida,

FEB 23 1990
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY Deputy Clerk

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 75,322

vs .

TM FLORIDA-OHIO REALTY LTD. PARTNERSHIP,
an Ohio Limited Partnership, authorized
and doing business in Florida,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

ROBERT E.V. KELLEY, JR.
Rydberg, Goldstein & Bolves, P.A.
220 East Madison Street, Suite 724
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 229-3900
FL. Bar #451230 ✓

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
Attorney General
State of Florida

Joseph C. Mellichamp, III

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this initial brief, Petitioners, RONALD J. SCHULTZ, as Property Appraiser of Pinellas County, Florida, and RANDY MILLER, as the Executive Director of the Department of Revenue of the state of Florida, will be referred to as "SCHULTZ" and "MILLER" respectively. The Respondent, TM FLORIDA-OHIO REALTY LTD. PARTNERSHIP, an Ohio Limited Partnership authorized and doing business in Florida, will be referred to as the "TAXPAYER". The trial court in this case was The Honorable David Seth Walker of the Sixth Judicial Circuit in and for Pinellas County, Florida, which court will be referred to as the "TRIAL COURT." The Appellate Court in this case was the Second District Court of Appeal, which Court will be referred to as the "DISTRICT COURT". The symbol (R-___), followed by a page number, will refer to the record on appeal. The symbol (A-___), followed by a number, denotes the appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The TAXPAYER, Plaintiff below, is the owner of certain real property located in the City of Largo, Pinellas County, Florida. It filed an action in Circuit Court contesting the 1986 assessment of its property by SCHULTZ in the amount of \$3,981,400.00 (R-1-6). Following a trial of the cause, the TRIAL COURT entered Final Judgment (R-70-71) overturning SCHULTZ's original assessed value and establishing a value of \$2,950,000.00. In striking down SCHULTZ's assessment, the TRIAL COURT ruled that although SCHULTZ's actions were not unlawful or improper (R-81, 89), the percentage increase that the 1986 assessment exceeded the 1985 assessment for the property shocked the conscience of the court (R-80) and the taxing authorities were more or less estopped from utilizing an otherwise valid assessment methodology, which had been available for several years, without doing so in an incremental fashion. (R-84-85, 89). A Notice of Appeal of the Final Judgment was timely filed. (R-72).

The DISTRICT COURT affirmed the Judgment of the TRIAL COURT. 14 FLW 1727 (Fla. 2nd DCA July 28, 1989) (A-3-15). The DISTRICT COURT held that SCHULTZ'S failure to accord any weight to the actual sub-market rent from the property and his use of the cost approach to assess it, failed to comply with the requirements of §193.011, Fla. Stat. The DISTRICT COURT reasoned that a prospective purchaser of the property as encumbered by a long-term lease, would not ignore the actual contract rent in determining a sale price. In that respect, the DISTRICT COURT held that the

failure to base the assessment on the actual sub-market rent resulted in an assessment that exceeded the fair market value of the property. In reaching it's decision, the DISTRICT COURT questioned the applicability of the cases of Century Village v. Walker, 449 So.2d 378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), rev. denied, 458 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1984) and Bystrom v. Valencia Center, Inc., 432 So.2d 108 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), rev. denied, 444 So. 418 (Fla. 1984) ("Valencia Center I"), by assuming they did not involve long-term leases. The DISTRICT COURT stated that Century Village "...[was] not shown to have involved a long-term lease and, for the reasons indicated above and further explained below, cannot have soundly reached the result it did unless it involved a short-term lease" 14 FLW at 1731, (A-7).

In response to the DISTRICT COURT'S decision, SCHULTZ and MILLER filed alternative motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc or for certification. (R-____). The DISTRICT COURT denied the motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc, but granted, in part, the motion for certification. 14 FLW 2902 (Fla. 2nd DCA Dec. 22, 1989) (A-1-2). The DISTRICT COURT certified the following question to be of great public importance:

WHAT IS THE PROPER METHOD OF ASSESSING FOR AD VALOREM PURPOSES INCOME-PRODUCING PROPERTY WHICH IS ENCUMBERED BY A LONG-TERM LEASE WHICH DOES NOT RETURN TO THE OWNER RENT CONSISTENT WITH THE CURRENT RENTAL VALUE FOR SIMILAR PROPERTY? (A-1)

A Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was timely filed by Petitioners. (R-____). This Court accepted jurisdiction of this

matter and established a briefing schedule in an order dated January 23, 1990.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The subject property is an approximately 11-acre tract of land improved with a large department store-type building of approximately 116,800 square feet. The building is occupied by two tenants, a K-Mart department store and a waterbed store (R-154-155). The TAXPAYER's property is encumbered by a 22-year lease agreement with K-Mart Department Stores which commenced in 1970, the date the building was constructed. (R-35, 156-157). The lease also contains four 5-year options to renew, effectively extending its duration into the next century. (R-35, 195).

The TAXPAYER presented evidence of the subject property's value via the testimony of their expert, Mr. James Parham, an MAI-designated appraiser. (R-106,113). Mr. Parham unequivocally stated that he appraised the leased-fee interest in the real property as opposed to the unencumbered fee interest. (R-109,194). He only valued the lessor's interest based on the actual income received. (R-195,197). He explained that the lessor's interest was the right to receive income together with the present value of the reversion interest in the property at the expiration of the lease. (R-194). He stated that he gave considerable consideration to income (R-208) and that it, together with the property's cash value, constituted the two key elements of his valuation. (R-208). The methodology he used was in essence the income approach.

(R-197). His "consideration" of cash value is merely a redundancy of his income approach. (R-194, 197-198,212). He stated that he considered both the sales comparison and cost approaches, but did not use them in valuing the property. (R-204,206). In that respect, actual income was the only factor Mr. Parham used in arriving at a value of the lessor's interest in the subject property.

The TRIAL COURT admitted over objection, evidence which was offered by the TAXPAYER of the assessment of the subject property for the three preceding years (R-30, 140-142). The TRIAL COURT stated that although TAXPAYER's opinion of value was some 44% greater than the 1985 assessment on the property, the "stumbling block in [its] mind" was the apparent 89% increase represented by SCHULTZ's 1986 assessment. (R-77,87).

Testimony in defense of SCHULTZ's assessment was presented by Mr. Richard Bova, SCHULTZ's Deputy for Appraisals. He was similarly recognized by the Court as an expert witness. (R-144). Mr. Bova testified that the Property Appraiser's office considered the eight criteria contained in §193.011, Fla. Stat. (1985). (R-152-178) In particular, he testified that the Property Appraiser's office was aware of the lease which encumbered the property (R-156) and the income it generated (R-124,33). Mr. Bova testified that the Property Appraiser's office considered the income from the property by making calculations according to an accepted income approach formula (R-150-152). After considering the income from the property, Mr. Bova concluded that it was

"sub-market." Sub-market means that leases negotiated during 1986 for similar property would return a higher rental rate per square foot than that received for the subject property. (R-164, 170-171). Mr. Parham, the TAXPAYER's expert, agreed that the actual rent was sub-market. (R-233).

The cost approach was given the most weight by Mr. Bova and ultimately served as the basis for the assessment. (R-127-130, 30). He testified that he believed the law requires assessment of the unencumbered fee. (R-153). The values generated by the Property Appraiser's office for the replacement cost of the building as well as the value of the underlying land were not disputed by the TAXPAYER.

Depending upon what interest or interests in the property were to be valued, the range of value testified to by Mr. Parham and Mr. Bova, was as follows:

Income approach (actual income - Bova)	- \$2,875,480.00	(R-168,34)
Income approach (actual income - Parham)	- \$2,950,000.00	(R-197)
Income approach (market rent - Parham)	\$4.5-4.8 million dollars	(R-255)
Income approach (market rent - Bova)	\$5.6 million dollars	(R-178)
<hr/>		
ASSESSED JUST VALUE	- \$3,981,400.00	
TRIAL COURT'S Value	- \$2,950,000.00	

Mr. Parham testified that in his opinion, SCHULTZ's assessment was grossly excessive and unreasonable (R-210). However, he also

testified that if the law required assessments to reflect the value of the unencumbered fee simple interest in the property, then SCHULTZ's assessment would not be excessive. (R-256).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The entire ad valorem taxation scheme is predicated on assessments which represent all the interests in the property, except when the legislature authorizes the assessment of separate interests. As it relates to this case, the legislature has not authorized the separate assessment of any interest in the property. Fair market value, which is synonymous with just value, refers to the value of the unencumbered fee simple interest in the property. Any attempt to value only a portion of the rights in a particular piece of property - such as an assessment based on the capitalization of actual sub-market rent - will fall short of the Constitutionally required standard of Just Value because the value of the non-assessed property rights will escape taxation. Since the duration of a given lease only affects the proportionate value of the lessor or lessees interest in the property, it is an immaterial and irrelevant factor and should not be considered in assessing the property.

The proper method of assessing the subject property is to value all the interests in the property. The income approach to value will value all the interests in the subject property provided market rent is used in place of the actual contract rent. Another way to value all the interests in the subject property through the

use of the income approach is to value the interest of the lessor by using the actual contract rent, and adding to that the value of the lessee's interest which is predicated on the capitalized value of the difference between market rent and contract rent.

A third way of valuing all the interests in the property is to use a method which inherently values the unencumbered fee simple interest. The cost approach is such a method. The cost approach focuses upon the replacement cost of the building and land and therefore is, by definition, unconcerned with partial interests. SCHULTZ used a cost approach and therefore valued all the interests in the property.

Although income is relevant in the valuation of rental property, the assessing statute merely requires its consideration, and courts of this state have never mandatorily required, to the exclusion of all other criteria, the actual use of income in the assessment process, especially when its use would arrive at a figure less than just value. SCHULTZ considered the income of the subject property, but did not use it because he felt it was not reflective of just value. The evidence adduced in the trial below as to the range of values for the unencumbered fee simple interest in the property, which could conceivably and legally be reached, demonstrates that SCHULTZ'S assessment should not have been overturned by the TRIAL COURT.

The proper standard for reviewing Ad Valorem assessments is to determine whether or not they exceed the just or fair market value of the property. The TRIAL COURT improperly struck down

SCHULTZ'S assessment based on its subjective determination that the amount the assessment exceeded that of the prior year's was unreasonable, without regard to whether or not the value assessed exceeded just value.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE PROPER METHOD OF ASSESSING FOR AD VALOREM PURPOSES INCOME-PRODUCING PROPERTY WHICH IS ENCUMBERED BY A LONG-TERM LEASE WHICH DOES NOT RETURN TO THE OWNER RENT CONSISTENT WITH THE CURRENT RENTAL VALUE FOR SIMILAR PROPERTY IS ONE WHICH VALUES THE INTERESTS OF BOTH THE LESSOR AND LESSEE.

Florida Courts have never recognized an exception to the rule that an assessment for ad valorem tax purposes include all the interests in the property, except when the legislature authorizes the assessment of separate interests. In this instant case, the legislature has not authorized the assessment of separate interests in the property.

Florida's modern system of property taxation is founded upon two basic principles. The first principle is that property must be uniformly assessed at 100% of its fair market value. Walter v. Schuler, 176 So.2d 81 (Fla. 1965). The second principle is that with the exception of lawfully authorized exemptions and the special property classifications specified in the Florida Constitution, all real and personal property and property interests in Florida must be placed on the tax role. The fundamental policy is that of democratic equality - the policy "that every taxpayer be treated consistently, and that everyone contribute his fair share, no more and no less, to the tax revenues." ITT Community

Development Corporation v. Seay, 347 So.2d 1024, 1028 (Fla. 1977);
Dade County Taxing Authorities v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp.,
355 So.2d 1202, 1204 (Fla. 1978).

Section 4, Art. VII of the Florida Constitution mandates the "just valuation of all property for ad valorem taxation", provided that agricultural land and certain other specified classes of property be specially classified "and assessed solely on the basis of character or use." This Court has held that with the exception of those special classes of property specified in the Constitution, all property must be uniformly assessed at 100% of its fair market value and the legislature may not establish additional classes of property to be valued on a different basis. Interlachen Lakes Estates, Inc. v. Snyder, 304 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1974); ITT Community Development Corp. v. Seay, supra. Section 196.001, Fla. Stat., commands that "[a]ll real and personal property in this state" shall be subject to taxation in the manner provided by law unless expressly exempted from taxation and §192.011 (2) defines "assessed value" to mean "the annual determination of the just or fair market value of an item or property" except for special classes of property specified in Article VII, §4, Fla. Const.

Florida law does not authorize a special assessment classification for leased property. The entire property must be assessed at 100% of its fair market value, the same as other property. To value only the landlord's reversion and omit the value of the leasehold would result in an illegal underassessment as a matter of law. Similarly, to base the assessment on contract

rent instead of market rent and the actual fair market value of the property, would create an illegal special classification of leased property.

An ad valorem tax is against the law itself, not against the owner. Lee v. Carpenter, 132 So.2d 433 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1961). It is well-established in Florida - and an essential requirement of uniformity in property taxation - that assessments must include all interests in the property. The property assessed is the unencumbered fee simple ownership - the entire "bundle of rights" in the property. Century Village v. Walker, 449 So.2d 378, 381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). The assessment is of the realty itself, at its full cash value, regardless of estates in it. Bancroft Inv. Corp. v. City of Jacksonville, 27 So.2d 162 (Fla. 1946); Wolfson v. Heins, 6 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1942). It is elementary that the assessment must include all interests in the land. Homer v. Dadeland Shopping Center, Inc., 229 So.2d 834 (Fla. 1970); McNayr v. Claughton, 198 So.2d 366 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1967).

In McNayr v. Claughton, supra, the Third District reversed the trial court which directed that property encumbered by a 99 year lease be valued according to the actual rent being paid to the fee owner. The Court held:

"...[T]he law requires an assessment of the value of not one interest in the land, but of the land; that is, the assessed value of the land must represent all interests in the land". 198 So.2d at 368.

In Homer v. Dadeland Shopping Center, Inc., supra, the taxpayer owned a shopping center impressed with restrictive covenants. The District Court held the existence of such covenants

detracted from the value of the property, and directed that an assessment be made on the value of the property less the value of the restrictions, e.g., only the owner's interest. This court quashed the decision of the District Court, holding:

It is elementary that the tax assessment valuation must include all interests in the property, except when the Legislature authorizes the assessment of separate interests. See Dickinson v. Davis, 224 So.2d (Fla. 1969)". 229 So.2d at 837.

When real estate is leased, the "bundle of rights" in the property is separated. Landlord and tenant each obtain separate and distinct interests in the property. Those separate interests, taken together, constitute the fee simple title or ownership. According to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers,

The divided interests resulting from a lease represent two distinct, but related, estates of property - the leased fee estate and the leasehold estate.

* *

The leased fee estate is the lessor's or landlord's estate. A leased fee estate is an ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and occupancy conveyed by lease to others. ...Although the specific details of leases vary, a leased fee generally provides the lessor with rent to be paid by the lessee under stipulated terms; [and] the right of repossession at the termination of the lease...

* *

The leasehold estate is the lessee's or tenant's estate. A leasehold estate is the right to use and occupy real estate for a stated term and under certain conditions as conveyed by the lease. Lease terms shape the quantity and quality of future benefits likely to flow to the interests created by the contract. Thus, the agreement provides that

the lessor will receive specified rent or services during the term of the lease and a reversion of the tenant's rights of use in occupancy when the lease expires.

* *

Leased terms sometimes create advantages for the leasehold position to the detriment of the leased fee position. If the lessee has a rent advantage, this is assured by the leasehold interest, which often has a value in the market.

American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers,
The Appraisal of Real Estate, Ninth Edition,
111, 114 and 115 (1987).

The fair market or just value of property for ad valorem purposes necessarily must reflect all ownership interests. This Court interpreted and defined the terms "just value" and "fair market value" in Walter v. Schuler, supra. That case involved the assessment of single-family homes which necessarily represents the unencumbered fee simple interest. Therefore, when this Court stated that the term "just value" is synonymous with "fair market value", it was conditioned on the assumption that one was dealing with the fair market value of the unencumbered fee simple interest, not just the lessor's interest.

In Overstreet v. Brickell Lum Corporation, 262 So.2d 707 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972), the Third District, having recently had a decision quashed by this court in Homer, supra, reversed a trial court judgment in favor of a taxpayer. The taxing authority had assessed the property at \$157,460.00 for the year in question, but the trial court enjoined the tax collector from collecting taxes on that part of the assessment which exceeded \$38,801.20. Overstreet concerned

the same strip of property which was involved in McNayr v. Claughton, supra; the property was encumbered by a 99 year lease which did not return to the owner current market rent. The Court found error in basing the assessment on the actual income derived from a lease because that method did not value all the interests in the property. The Court held that:

...employing the income approach of evaluating real estate but using solely the capitalization of the income from that lease to determine value of the property would tend yield an unrealistic result as to true market value for all the interests." 262 So.2d at 709 (emphasis supplied).

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