#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD J. SCHULTZ, as Property Appraiser of Pinellas County, Florida, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

TM FLORIDA-OHIO REALTY LTD. PARTNERSHIP, an Ohio Limited Partnership,

Respondent.

And Andrews

CASE NO. 75,322

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT,
TM FLORIDA-OHIO REALTY LTD. PARTNERSHIP

KENT G. WHITTEMORE, ESQ.
Whittemore & Ramsberger, P.A.
One Beach Drive SE, Suite 205
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701
(813) 821-8752
Florida Bar No. 166049
Counsel for Respondent

###

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

In cases following the Morganwoods, supra, case, the appellate courts of Florida have recognized the importance of income as a factor to be considered and used in the assessment of property subject to the encumbrance of a lease. In Bystrom v. Hotelarama Associates Limited, 431 So.2d 176 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), the court held that when the property appraiser fails to obtain, and utilize, actual income data, although available, the presumption of correctness of the property appraiser's assessment is lost. This case follows the general law that the presumption of correctness afforded to the property appraiser is lost when the property appraiser fails to substantially comply with the statutory requirements governing valuation of property. See Bystrom v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 416 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). In Palm Corporation v. Homer, 261 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1972), the Court overturned the property appraiser's assessment stating at page 823:

> however, "The assessment here, primarily on a replacement cost basis less the depreciation, with the land being based upon a square foot basis, according to the tax assessor. light of failure by the assessor to use the very pertinent criterion of income applicable here, the trial judge was well justified in finding that the assessment did not satisfy legal requirements, and in fixing a proper assessment which included consideration omitted factor based evidence of it offered at trial."

powers of his office. It is precisely the abuse by SCHULTZ of his discretion in arbitrarily excluding income from meaningful consideration in the case at bar that led to the TRIAL COURT'S findings and unusually lengthy opinion of the DISTRICT COURT.

It is undisputed that the property appraiser in the case at bar utilized only the replacement cost approach in assessing Respondent's property and totally ignored actual income from the property, use of the income approach, or use of the market comparison approach. The TRIAL COURT was, therefore, justified in overturning the property appraiser's assessment in the case at bar and in determining its just valuation based upon competent substantial evidence. See also Blake v. Farrand Corporation, Inc., 321 So.2d 118 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975).

В.

THE RULE OF LAW THAT ALL INTERESTS IN PROPERTY BE APPRAISED FOR AD VALOREM TAX PURPOSES DOES NOT REQUIRE AN APPRAISAL OF THE PROPERTY AS BEING AN UNENCUMBERED FEE SIMPLE INTEREST WHEN THE PROPERTY IS, IN FACT, ENCUMBERED BY A LONG-TERM LEASE ENTERED INTO AT ARM'S LENGTH.

It has been argued by Petitioner that the legal requirement that all rights in property be assessed necessarily precludes an assessment based upon the capitalization of actual sub-market rent. It is further argued that the use of such an approach allows the interest in the leasehold to escape taxation and that the only way to provide for the inclusion of all interests in the bundle of rights to property is to tax the property as though the landowner possessed the same in an unencumbered fee simple. Petitioner cites as authority for his reasoning, Morganwoods, supra, Valencia Center I, supra, Century Village, supra, and Valencia Center,

Inc. v. Bystrom, 543 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1989) ("Valencia Center
III"). The court, in Valencia Center III, at page 217, cited
Morganwoods, supra, and stated:

"We reaffirm the general rule that in the levy of property tax the assessed value of the land must represent all the interests in the land. This means that despite the mortgage, lease or sublease of the property, the landowner will still be taxed as though he possessed the property in fee simple. The general property tax ignores fragmenting of ownership and seeks payment from only 'one owner'."

and further held that failure to consider the transferred leasehold interest resulted in an assessment below market value.

A careful reading of <u>Morganwoods</u>, <u>supra</u>, and its progeny, <u>Valencia Center I</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Century Village</u>, <u>supra</u>, reveals the assumption upon which the conclusion in <u>Valencia Center III</u> was based:

"Secondly, if the lessor's interest in the property is reduced by virtue of a lease which is now disadvantageous to itself, it follows that the lessees' interests are all the more valuable. The present market would contemplate the totality of the interests and a willing buyer would offer a willing seller (or sellers) a figure based on the lowered value of the encumbered property to the lessor plus the increased value premium) for the interest of Century Village, supra, at lessees. page 381 citing Valencia Center I at page 111.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>It is suggested that the conclusion in <u>Century Village</u>, <u>supra</u>, to wit: "...the property assessed is the unencumbered fee simple." is irreconcilable with its acknowledgment that "However, this does not mean that an assessment may be made without regard to the effect of an encumbrance on the value of the land.", at page 381, a conflict recognized by the

The reasoning expressed in <u>Century Village</u>, <u>supra</u>, may be expressed in other words: If the value of the landlord's interest goes down because of a below-market rate lease, the value of the tenant's interest must necessarily go up by the same amount. The sum of the parts, therefore, is always equal to the sum of the whole.

Accepted appraisal theory acknowledges, however, that while generally the value of the sum of the split bundle of rights will equal the value of the bundle of rights as a whole, there are exceptions to the rule:

"In the appraisal of split interests, it is found that as a general rule the value of the sum of the parts of a property equals the value of the property as a whole. There are exceptions to this rule and the appraiser must be alert to recognize conditions under which the value of the sum of the parts may be more or less than the value of the entire property--under free and clear ownership. The summation value of split interests is greater where the contract rent agreed upon by a financially strong tenant exceeds the economic rent which the property is estimated to produce at the time of appraisal. Such excessive income nevertheless must be separated and capitalized at higher risk rates of interest, for even financially strong tenants seek to correct inequities. Where lease terms are restrictive to the point that the tenant is unable to make

dissent and resolved by the dissent in favor of a reduction in value by virtue of a genuinely disadvantageous encumbrance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the case of a lease, the entire bundle of property rights, referred to as the sum of the whole, is split between the landlord and tenant, each of which may be referred to as the leased fee and leasehold interest, parts of the fee simple bundle of rights.

effective use of the property, the reduced income flow would cause the value of the parts to be less than the value of the property as a whole." Alfred A. Ring, MAI, SRA, The Valuation of Real Estate, at 262 (1963).

Based upon the foregoing, the conclusions contained in Morganwoods, supra, Valencia Center I, supra, Century Village, supra, and Valencia Center III, supra, are based upon an invalid assumption. Although the total of the value of the leased fee interest and leasehold interest may be equal to the values of the unencumbered fee simple, it is not always so. The TRIAL COURT recognized the exception referred to in The Valuation of Real Estate, supra, in its findings in response to Petitioner's Motion to Strike the testimony of Respondent's expert at trial. The TRIAL COURT, in acknowledging the holding in Century Village, supra, and in reciting pertinent portions of its holding, found that:

"'This means that despite the mortgage, lease or sublease of the property, the landowner will still be taxed as though he possessed the property in fee simple.

'The general property tax ignores fragmenting of ownership and seeks payment from only one owner.'

'An encumbrance or restriction such as an easement will not per se,' and I emphasize the phrase per se, 'reduce the assessment value of land simply because the owner has been divested of some proprietary interest.'

'However,' and I will again emphasize for the record, 'However, this does not mean that an assessment may be made without regard to the effect of an encumbrance on the value of the land.

'The encumbrance becomes one factor among many the appraiser must,' and I emphasize the word must, 'consider in determining the just value of the property to be taxed.'

The court in this case goes on to give a rather ludicrous example; it says the error in only capitalizing the income from the lease to determine market value is apparent in a hypothetical situation where the lease is \$1 per year for 99 years, thus implying the income approach evaluating real estate be used in solely a capitalization of income of that lease to determine the value of the property will tend to yield an unrealistic result as to true market value for all interest.

That isn't in line, however, with this witness' testimony.

As the court goes on to say:

'Secondly, if the lessor's interest in the property is reduced by virtue of a lease which is now disadvantageous to itself, it follows that the lessees' interests are all the more valuable.

'The present market would contemplate the totality of the interests and a willing buyer would offer a willing seller or sellers a figure based on the lowered value of the encumbered property to the lessor plus the increased value, a premium, for the interest of the lessees.'

The distinction that we have in this case, from the testimony of this witness, and he has been accepted as that of an expert, is that the lowered evaluation of the leasehold encumbrance on the property as regards the lessor's interest, is not tit for tat offset by an increased interest that the lessee might have.

This witness has testified as to the depreciating condition of the property; he's testified as to the immediate location of substantial competition across the street in the form of a Zayres; he

testified to the continually diminishing business flow in the property; and he has testified, unlike the witnesses from the defense so far, that he has, in fact, visited the property and has firsthand knowledge of what the property even looks like.

So, here we have from the testimony of this witness, the lessor whose interest in the property is encumbered by a long term and not a short term of recent inception lease, and lessees whose interests have not, according to his testimony, been increasing throughout the term of the lease, because of the demography of the area and the competition and the condition and depreciation of the store. (emphasis supplied)

This witness has given testimony of great materiality; it is admissible, and the objection is overruled. (R-225 - 227).4

The TRIAL COURT recognized that the assessment of the subject property as though unencumbered would fail to account for the very real loss in value suffered to the estates of both the landlord and the tenant as a result of functional and

The Petitioners' expert testified that no functional or economic obsolescence had been attributed to the property at the time of its assessment (R 136 - 138). Respondent's expert, on the other hand, testified in the TRIAL COURT that the property appraiser's failure to account for functional or economic obsolescence, referred to by the TRIAL COURT above, would result in an improper application of commonly accepted appraisal standards and that a proper application of obsolescence to the subject property would have reduced its value by \$1.8 Million (R 214, 215 and 258), or an adjustment down from the unencumbered fee simple by \$1.8 Million (R 260). No evidence was presented in the TRIAL COURT to rebut MR. PARHAM'S conclusion as to the necessity for such an adjustment or to the findings of the TRIAL COURT that such an adjustment resulted in the lowered evaluation of the leasehold interest of the lessee.

economic obsolescence.<sup>5</sup> The value of the total of each of the separate estates of ownership in a given property may, but will not always, therefore, necessarily equal the value of the unencumbered fee simple. An analysis of the above will reveal that the length of the lease, ability to assign or sublease, and restrictions on use, whether by virtue of obsolescence attributable to factors both within and outside the subject property or by restrictions imposed by the lease itself when negotiated at arm's length, may render the leasehold interest of little or no value beyond that provided by the terms of the lease itself.

The splitting of interests as an accepted methodology for the appraisal of property encumbered by a lease has been recognized by the laws of Florida, the case law of other jurisdictions, and Petitioners in their brief.

Section 196.001, Florida Statutes, specifically provides for the taxation of the leasehold interest and property whose fee interest is owned by a governmental agency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The subject lease provides, on page 2, that in addition to fixed rent, tenant will pay to landlord a percentage of gross sales. This provision was presumably inserted in order to provide for the possibility of increased revenues to the landlord and based upon the hope and expectation of greater sales revenues for the tenant. Unfortunately for both the landlord and the tenant, MR. PARHAM'S projections as to rent and sales revenues included no real expectations of significant jumps through the remaining twenty-six years of the lease (R-200).

<sup>6&</sup>quot;196.001 <u>Property subject to taxation.</u>--Unless expressly exempted from taxation, the following property shall be subject to taxation in the manner provided by law:

In the case of Folsom v. County of Spokane, 759 P.2d 1196 (Wash. 1988), the Court adopted a methodology of valuing property subject to a long-term lease by capitalizing the value of contract rent and adding the present value of any leasehold bonus. The Court, in rejecting the argument that its methodology would allow the fragmenting of taxation among several taxpayers and that it would allow unscrupulous taxpayers to conspire with tenants to arbitrarily structure a tax-advantageous lease, held:

- 1. That the unit assessment rule prohibits multiple assessments on multiple taxpayers holding disparate interests in one piece of land. It is concerned, however, with only the final outcome of the assessor's task. The rule does not preclude the separate valuation of multiple interests in the course of producing a single assessed value; and
- 2. That if the now below market lease was not entered into originally in good faith and at arm's length, the assessor may ignore contract rent and base valuation solely on the market rent.

<sup>...(2)</sup> All leasehold interests in property of the United States, of the state, or any political subdivision, municipality, agency, authority, or other public body corporate of the state."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Although the court, in <u>Folsom</u>, <u>supra</u>, concluded in dicta that the sum of the parts cannot exceed or be less than the value of the whole and that the ultimate appraisal should attempt arrive at fair market value of the property as if it were unencumbered, no reference was made in the opinion to the exceptions to the general rule set forth above and it may be presumed that the same were either not applicable or were not argued.

- 23 -

It has been conceded by Petitioners on page 7 of the Initial Brief of Petitioners that the split interest method of valuation accounts for all of the interest in property:

"Another way to value all the interests in the subject property through use of the income approach is to value the interest of the lessor by using the actual contract rent, and adding to that the value of the lessee's interest which is predicated on the capitalized value of the difference between market rent and contract rent."

By virtue of the foregoing, actual rent from a long-term lease entered into at arm's length should be given meaningful consideration. The same may be accomplished by an appraisal of the split interests in property. Such a methodology is consistent with the literal reading of \$193.011(7), Florida Statutes, recognizes fact rather than speculation, and does no disservice to the requirement that all of the interests in property must be valued for ad valorem purposes.

II.

REGARDLESS OF THIS COURT'S ANSWER TO THE CERTIFIED QUESTION AS STATED OR AS IT MAY BE MODIFIED BY THIS COURT, THE DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT AND THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

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